Chapter 7 Vitamin E Analogues as Prototypic Mitochondria-Targeting Anti-cancer Agents

Lan-Feng Dong and Jiri Neuzil

Contents

1	Intro	Introduction	
2	Structure of Vitamin E and Its Analogues		153
	2.1	Functional Domains of Vitamin E Analogues	155
	2.2	Redox-Silent Analogues of Vitamin E	156
	2.3	Other Vitamin E Analogues with Anti-proliferative Activity	156
	2.4	Tocotrienol and Its Analogues	157
3	Molecular Mechanism of Anti-cancer Function of Vitamin E Analogues		159
	3.1	Mitochondrial Apoptotic Pathways Induced by Vitamin E Analogues	159
		3.1.1 Initiation of Mitochondrial Membrane Permeabilization	160
		3.1.2 Apoptotic Signalling Downstream of Mitochondria	160
	3.2	Mitochondria-Independent Apoptosis Induction by Vitamin E Analogues	162
		3.2.1 Activation of Death Receptors by Vitamin E Analogues	162
		3.2.2 MAP Kinase Pathway and Apoptosis Induction by Vitamin E Analogues	163
	3.3	Role of Protein Kinase C in Apoptosis Induced by Vitamin E Analogues	164
	3.4	Role of Nuclear Factor-KB in Apoptosis Induced by Vitamin E Analogues	165
4	Vitamin E Analogues, Anti-cancer Agents Targeting Mitochondria		165
	4.1	α-Tocopheryl Succinate	166
	4.2	Mitochondrially Targeted Vitamin E Succinate	168
	4.3	α-Tocopheryloxyacetic Acid	171
5	Vita	min E Analogues as Stimulants of the Immune System	172
6	Con	clusions	173
Re	References		

L.-F. Dong (🖂)

J. Neuzil

Mitochondria, Apoptosis and Cancer Research Group, School of Medical Science and Griffith Health Institute, Griffith University, Southport, QLD 4222, Australia

Molecular Therapy Group, Institute of Biotechnology, Academy of Sciences of the Czech Republic, 142 20 Prague 4, Czech Republic

Mitochondria, Apoptosis and Cancer Research Group, School of Medical Science and Griffith Health Institute, Griffith University, Southport, QLD 4222, Australia e-mail: l.dong@griffith.edu.au

Abstract Mitochondria have emerged recently as a novel, intriguing target for anti-caner drugs, owing largely to their importance for proper growth of cancer cells. Destabilization of mitochondria often results in the induction of apoptosis in cancer cells that, consequently, may translate into suppression of tumour growth. A class of mitochondria-targeting compounds, mitocans, comprises several groups of agents with different targets within the mitochondrion. Of these, vitamin E analogues have been recently promoted as agents that disrupt mitochondria by several modes of action. These compounds hold substantial promise as potential anti-cancer drugs of clinical relevance.

Keywords Vitamin E analogues • Cancer • Mitochondria • Redox-silent • Functional domain • Anti-cancer effect • Apoptosis • Signaling pathways • α -tocopherol succinate • α -tocopheryloxyacetic acid • α -tocopheryl maleamide • Mitochondrially targeted vitamin E succinate • Complex II

1 Introduction

In spite of the recent unprecedented advancement in molecular medicine, there has been only limited progress in the search for efficient, selective anti-cancer drugs (Siegel et al. 2013). Although the hallmarks of cancer have been defined and re-defined (Hanahan and Weinberg 2000, 2011), recent findings indicate that cancer is more complex than thought, and, accordingly, the successful treatment may be harder to find than anticipated. This grim notion stems from the findings of high level of genetic and mutational differences amongst patients with the same or very similar type of tumour (Jones et al. 2008; Parsons et al. 2008), as well as within one tumour and the derived metastases in the same patient (Gerlinger et al. 2012). This heterogeneity considerably complicates the treatment (Hayden 2008), indicating that current therapies may be efficient only for some patients and, even worse, may kill only a part of the tumour cells.

Therefore, it is imperative to search for an invariant target that could be utilised across the landscape of different cancers and also could be used to selectively kill cancer cells with low or no effect on normal cells and tissues. Such a plausible target is presented by mitochondria, essential organelles that are the major source of energy as well as purveyors of cell death. Recently, there has been a focus on mitochondria as potential targets for cancer therapy, with numerous original papers and several excellent reviews (see e.g., Wallace 2012; Galluzzi et al. 2010; Fulda et al. 2010; Ralph et al. 2010a, b; Gogvadze et al. 2008). We have been coining the term 'mitocans' (standing for 'mitochondria' and 'cancer'), encompassing a class of compounds that exert anti-cancer activity by way of targeting and destabilising mitochondria, causing apoptosis, often selectively in cancer cells (Ralph et al. 2006; Neuzil et al. 2006, 2013). Of these agents, we and others have focused on intriguing types of mitocans, vitamin E (VE) analogues, that act via mitochondria, causing apoptosis selectively in cancer cells, Neuzil

et al. 2007; Zhao et al. 2009; Angulo-Molina et al. 2014). In this review, we focus on VE analogues, discussing their structural features, molecular mode of activity as well as their promise as efficient anti-cancer agents.

2 Structure of Vitamin E and Its Analogues

VE is a generic term that refers to a family of eight different naturally occurring phenolic compounds (Sen et al. 2000; Elnagar et al. 2010). These agents belong to two categories, tocopherols and tocotrienols. Both groups share the aromatic chromanol group with two rings (one phenolic and one heterocyclic) and an isoprenoid chain (a 16-carbon tail) attached at the C2 position. Tocopherols differ from tocotrienols only in the aliphatic tail (Kamal-Eldin and Appelqvist 1996). Tocopherols refer to VE compounds with a saturated phytyl side chain, tocotrienols refer to compounds containing poly-unsaturated side chain. Each group includes four isoforms, named α -, β -, γ -, and δ -tocopherols or tocotrienols, which differ by the number and position of methyl groups on the chromanol ring (see the structures in Fig. 7.1) (Aggarwal et al. 2010; Elson and Yu 1994). The role of these molecules as lipophilic antioxidants in vitro and in vivo is widely accepted (Neuzil et al. 2007). It has been reported that both tocopherol and tocotrienol isoforms display a wide-range of antioxidant-related activities (McIntyre et al. 2000), with the level of phytyl chain saturation and/or chromanol ring methylation critical for the differential bioactivity of the individual isoforms (Elson and Yu 1994; McIntyre et al. 2000). In addition, non-antioxidant properties of VE family members have also been investigated (Akazawa et al. 2002).

While α -tocopherol (α -TOH) was the first VE analogue to be recognized, and was named in 1924 and synthesized in 1938 (Sen et al. 2007), the term tocotrienol was first suggested by Bunyan and colleagues (Bunyan et al. 1961), and tocotrienols were first isolated from the latex of the rubber plant in 1964 (Whittle et al. 1996). Furthermore, among the VE isomers, α -tocopherol is the most common form found in human diets; it also has the highest bioavailability. So far, α -tocopherol is the best characterized VE isomer and has been examined in a large number of studies (Ling et al. 2012). There is evidence suggesting that human tissues can convert tocotrienols to tocopherols (Qureshi et al. 2001, 2002). The differences in the aliphatic side chain may account for the differences in the efficacy and potency both in vitro and in vivo. To date, over 30,000 papers have been published on tocopherols, and about 600 on tocotrienols (Aggarwal et al. 2010). The most studied functions of these two groups of compounds are related to their antioxidant (Lee et al. 2009; Cai et al. 2012), anti-proliferative and anti-survival (Shun et al. 2004; Mudit et al. 2010), anti-inflammatory (Bachawal et al. 2010; Ivanova et al. 2011), anti-angiogenic (Inokuchi et al. 2003; Weng-Yew et al. 2009), pro-apoptotic and anti-cancer (Wu and Ng 2010; Parker et al. 1993), cardio-protective (Koba et al. 1992) and neuro-protective activity (Aggarwal et al. 2010; Sen et al. 2000).



Fig. 7.1 Chemical structures of naturally occurring forms of vitamin E, tocotrienols and tocopherols

While the naturally occurring VE compounds have been a focus of numerous studies for many years since they were first recognized in 1924, semisynthetic VE analogues, a group of compounds which are derived from VE and share the same core structure with VE, have recently emerged as very important compounds with even higher biological activity, especially the anti-cancer effect. This group of compounds have been represented by agents like α -tocopheryl succinate (α -TOS), α -tocopheryl ether-linked acetic acid (α -TEA), or mitochondrially targeted vitamin E succinate (MitoVES). Their anti-cancer activity and the molecular mechanism of their biological action have been studied profoundly in recent years and will be highlighted in this paper.



2.1 Functional Domains of Vitamin E Analogues

VE analogues, including α -tocopheryl succinate, α -tocopherol ether-linked acetic acid, α -tocopheryl polyethylene glycol 1000 succinate, tocopheryl nicotinate, α -tocopheryl ferulate, tretinoin tocoferil or α -tocopheryl phosphate have been synthesized and their cellular effects investigated. They are examples of VE analogues modified at the tocopheryl-C6 position that do not have antioxidant activity in their intact form, unless they are hydrolysed, suggesting that individual 'regions' of the molecule of VE and its analogues can be divided into functionally different groups. Thus, the VE molecule comprises three different domains (Fig. 7.2): the hydrophobic domain (I), the signalling domain (II) and the functional domain (III) (Neuzil et al. 2007).

- (i) The functional domain is the group attached at C6 of the chromanol ring. This position determines whether the molecule behaves as a redox-active or a redox-silent compound. The well documented antioxidant properties of the four tocopherol isomers and their bioavailability (in particular that of α -tocopherol) led to their testing in cancer clinical trials. In the two of the largest chemoprevention trials, VE (α -tocopherol) consumption was found to have no beneficial effect on cancer incidence, indicating little if any positive outcome concerning the use of free tocopherols in cancer prevention (Pham and Plakogiannis 2005). However, certain chemical modifications at C6, such as those resulting in the generation of ether, ester and amide analogues (with a free carboxylate) proved to endow the parental agents with pro-apoptotic and anti-neoplastic activity, which resulted in a concerted research on the anticancer efficacy of these agents (Neuzil et al. 2007).
- (ii) The signalling domain is responsible for activities of the agents that are independent of the antioxidant nature of tocopherols and are given by the methylation pattern of the aromatic ring. For example, α -tocopherol has been reported to inhibit protein kinase C (PKC) by decreasing diacylglycerol levels, whereas other tocopherols with similar antioxidant efficacies do not inhibit the kinase activity. Thus, the PKC inhibitory activity of α -tocopherol is independent of its antioxidant capacity (Kunisaki et al. 1995; Tasinato et al. 1995).

(iii) The lipophilic side chain of VE compounds distinguishes between tocopherols with saturated isoprenyl units and tocotrienols with unsaturated isoprenyl units. The hydrophobic domain determines whether the molecule can bind to lipoproteins and membranes or will be degraded by phase I enzymes (Birringer et al. 2002; Neuzil et al. 2007). It has been reported that tocotrienols can be degraded to a larger extent than their counterparts with saturated side chains, and there are quantitative differences in the metabolism between individual tocopherols as well as between tocotrienols and tocopherols (Kogure et al. 2005).

2.2 Redox-Silent Analogues of Vitamin E

VE analogues with a modified hydroxyl group of α -TOH have been tested for their pro-apoptotic activity. The most prominent derivative of this group (and certainly the most studied one) is α -TOS (Fig. 7.2), bearing a succinyl group at position C6 of the chromanol ring. Because of its low pKa (<6), α -TOS is fully deprotonated under physiological conditions, leading to a detergent-like molecule, which destabilizes mitochondrial membranes (Neuzil et al. 2007). Dicarboxylic esters of tocopherols present the best studied compounds for structure-activity relationship (SAR). Strong apoptogens include α -TOS, α -tocopheryl oxalate and α -tocopheryl malonate, the latter two inducing non-selective cytotoxicity in mice inoculated with B16-F1 melanoma cells (Kogure et al. 2005). Even greater apoptogenic activity has been observed for unsaturated dicarboxylic acids like α -tocopheryl maleate (Birringer et al. 2003). Increasing the chain length of the dicarboxylic acid led to decreased activity as shown for α -tocopheryl glutarate and α -tocopheryl methyl glutarate (Birringer et al. 2003), or α -tocopheryl pimelate (Kogure et al. 2004) exhibiting no activity at all. The substitution pattern of the chromanol ring is often not merely related to the antioxidant properties of tocopherols (Azzi et al. 2002). An important feature of compounds with α -tocopheryl structure is their selective recognition by the hepatic α -tocopherol transfer protein (TTP). The relative affinities of the homologues of VE for TPP decrease with the loss of methylation of the chromanol ring (Hosomi et al. 1997).

2.3 Other Vitamin E Analogues with Anti-proliferative Activity

A number of compounds with modifications in the functional domain exhibit antiproliferative activity and exert additional properties. For example, α -tocopheryl polyethylene glycol succinate (α -TPGS) has been used as a vehicle for drug delivery systems. As one of the components of the nano-emulsion vehicles (NEs), it showed significant pro-apoptotic effect for both murine breast and colon carcinoma cell lines, indicating built-in anti-cancer properties for such NE platforms, potentially enhancing overall anti-neoplastic effects of incorporated chemotherapeutic agents (Jordan et al. 2012). α -TPGS also showed enhanced chemosensitization and anti-tumour efficacy against non-small cell lung cancer cell lines (Gill et al. 2012). In addition, this compound has been shown to possess anti-cancer activity against human lung carcinoma cells implanted in nude mice. The apoptosis-inducing efficacy of the compound was not due to its increased uptake by cells but rather due to increased ability to generate ROS (Youk et al. 2005).

Another example is α -tocopheryl phosphate (α -TOP), a water-soluble molecule, which has been found in animal and plant tissues (Gianello et al. 2005). It has been shown to exert more potent cellular effects than α -tocopherol itself in terms of inhibition of cell proliferation and regulation of gene expression. It may directly modulate intermediate steps of signal transduction or gene regulation (Negis et al. 2009). At a higher concentration, α -TOP induces apoptosis, as documented, for example, by its high anti-proliferative and apoptogenic effect on MG-63 cancer cells (Rezk et al. 2007). The reason for α -TOP being more efficient than α -tocopherol may be due to its better penetration across the plasma membrane (Gianello et al. 2005), and it may also be possible that the phosphorylated forms of tocopherol can be transported to the sites of action more efficiently than the non-phosphorylated ones. It is believed that α -TOP can act as a signalling molecule, modulating cell functions such that it may be a source of α -TOH that can undergo enzymatic dephosphorylation and phosphorylation reactions, modulating cell signalling pathways (Negis et al. 2005). Mixtures of α -TOP and di- α -TOP were shown to inhibit proliferation of rat aortic smooth muscle cells as well as THP-1 monocytic leukemia cells (Munteanu et al. 2004). It was proposed that α -TOS and α -TOM act in cancer cells by mimicking and substituting for α -TOP, causing permanent activation of cellular signalling (Neuzil et al. 2007).

Furthermore, two experimental α -tocopheryl esters, the all-trans retinoic acid α -tocopoheryl ester and 9-cis retinoic acid α -tocopoheryl ester, have been documented to reduce proliferation of acute promyelocytic leukemia (APL) cells. The 9-cisretinoic acid α -tocopheryl ester also inhibited proliferation of APL-derived NB4 and HT93 cells and induced their differentiation, as documented by biomarkers, such as granulocytic maturation, nitroblue tetrazolium reduction and enhanced CD11b expression (Makishima et al. 1998). Transactivation experiments with a retinoid receptor-responsive reporter construct revealed that both compounds acted as agonists of retinoic acid receptors. γ -Carboxyethyl hydroxychroman, a degradation product of γ -tocopherol often found secreted in the urine, reduces proliferation of PC-3 prostate cancer cells by inhibiting cyclin D1 expression (Galli et al. 2004).

2.4 Tocotrienol and Its Analogues

Tocotrienols are forms of VE with potent anti-proliferative activity against different types of cancer cells with little or no effect on normal cell growth or functions. Previous studies suggested that tocotrienol treatment is associated with significantly lower tumour incidence, lower tumour numbers and longer tumour latency in mammary carcinoma models (Whittle et al. 1996). However, physico-chemical and pharmacokinetic properties greatly limit their use as therapeutic agents. Chemical



Fig. 7.3 Modification of the hydrophobic domain of tocotrienols

instability, poor water solubility, and rapid metabolism of tocotrienols are examples of obstacles that hinder the therapeutic use of these natural products and their semisynthetic analogues (Behery et al. 2010). Tocotrienols exhibit their pro-apoptotic activity without modifications of the functional domain. The hierarchy in the signalling domain is reversed, making δ -tocotrienol (Fig. 7.3c) the most potent agent, followed by γ -tocotrienol (Fig. 7.3b) and α -tocotrienol (Fig. 7.3a) (He et al. 1997). The pro-apoptotic property of tocotrienols may be related to the inactivation of the Ras family of proteins. Recent studies indicate that both γ - and δ -tocotrienols have potent anti-proliferative and pro-apoptotic activity in several different types of pancreatic cancer cells, Panc-28, MIA PaCa-2, Panc-1 and BxPC-3. The mechanisms of the anti-cancer effects of the two tocotrienols mainly involve the Akt and the Ras/ Raf/MEK/ERK signalling pathways (Shin-Kang et al. 2011). A direct inhibitory action of tocotrienols has been proposed, since the membrane-anchoring cysteine residue of Ras proteins is modified by a common structural element, a farnesyl chain. Accordingly, Ras farnesylation and RhoA prenylation were inhibited by tocotrienols in A549 cells with an activating Ras mutation (Yano et al. 2005).

It was reported that γ -tocotrienol displays potent anti-cancer activity associated with suppression of HER/ErbB receptor signalling (Ayoub et al. 2011), and a recent study showed that γ -tocotrienol enhances chemo-sensitivity of human oral cancer cells to docetaxel through the down-regulation of nuclear factor- κ B (NF- κ B)-regulated anti-apoptotic gene products (Kani et al. 2013). Interestingly, the number and position of methyl substituents in tocotrienols affect their hypocholesterolemic, antioxidant, and anti-tumour properties. The desmethyl tocotrienol (Fig. 7.3d),

lacking all aromatic methyl groups, shows even higher activity with the IC_{50} value of 0.9 μ M. This compound has been isolated from rice bran, giving it the status of a native product (Qureshi et al. 2000).

3 Molecular Mechanism of Anti-cancer Function of Vitamin E Analogues

Advanced sequencing and bioinformatics lead to the discovery that tumours are heterogeneous. This is demonstrated by recent reports revealing the extraordinary variability of mutations in the same type of tumour from different patients (Jones et al. 2008; Parsons et al. 2008; Hayden 2008). This grim notion has been further accentuated by the finding that there are differences in the mutational signatures of different regions even in a single tumour and its metastases (Gerlinger et al. 2012). These findings underscore the low possibility of the discovery of an efficient cancer cure that would target only a single gene or a single signalling pathway. Currently, the majority of established anti-cancer drugs are either non-selective or gradually lose their efficacy because of the constant mutational changes in malignant cells. This is also likely to be the major reason why cancer incidence is either stagnating or on the rise (Siegel et al. 2012). Therefore, pursuing cancer control strategies is one of the major tasks for scientists, and discovery and development of novel selective and efficient anticancer agents for treating neoplastic diseases is of paramount importance.

VE analogues have been studied extensively for their anti-cancer potential and have been shown to possess strong pro-apoptotic and anti-cancer efficacy in different types of cancer. They are selective for malignant cells, cause destabilization of cancer cell mitochondria, and suppress cancer in pre-clinical models. The feature of selectivity for malignant cells, different molecular mechanisms of anti-cancer activity as well as their unique targets via which they exert anti-cancer activity endow VE analogues agents with a great promise to be developed into novel anti-cancer drugs to benefit cancer patients. Anti-cancer molecular mechanisms of VE analogues are summarized below.

3.1 Mitochondrial Apoptotic Pathways Induced by Vitamin E Analogues

Mitochondria are organelles important for both life and death of a cell. They are membrane-enclosed structures distributed in the cytosol of most eukaryotic cells, with the mitochondrial outer membrane (MOM) defining the entire organelle and the mitochondrial inner membrane (MIM) containing the fluid-filled matrix. Mitochondria are the major source of cellular energy with a crucial role in cellular bioenergetics and are vital for signalling of mammalian cells. However they are also central actors in cell death, critically contributing to the process of apoptosis induction and progression (Ralph et al. 2006; Neuzil et al. 2006). Furthermore,

mitochondria are also a major source of intracellular reactive oxygen species (ROS); as such, they are themselves potentially vulnerable to oxidative stress. When ROS production exceeds the capacity for detoxification and repair, oxidative damage to proteins, DNA, and phospholipids can occur, disrupting mitochondrial OXPHOS and eventually leading to the impairment of cell function and death. Accordingly, mitochondrial ROS production and oxidative damage are attractive targets for pharmacological intervention.

3.1.1 Initiation of Mitochondrial Membrane Permeabilization

Apoptosis, an organized sequence of events controlled by a network of genes, is an essential process during development and plays a key role in a variety of pathologies. There are many triggers of apoptosis, including increased levels of oxidants within the cell, damage to DNA by these oxidants or other agents, accumulation of proteins that fail to fold properly, or signalling by molecules binding to death receptors. Apoptosis induction is also a major process by which VE analogues kill cancer cells.

Various apoptotic stimuli may trigger the formation of the MOM pore (MOMP). This is a complex process that involves numerous molecular players and also serves as a target for anti-cancer drugs. During this event, both MOM and MIM are permeabilized, resulting in the "rupture" of the MOM and the release of soluble proteins from the inter-membrane space into the cytosol. This process is accompanied by the loss of the mitochondrial inner trans-membrane potential ($\Delta \Psi_{m,i}$), depletion of the cellular ATP pool and increase in the ROS levels, which, together, contribute to the cell demise. The fact that MOMP represents or is close to the commitment point in the process of cell death cascade has prompted efforts to develop agents capable of efficiently eliciting these events (Neuzil et al. 2007; Alirol and Martinou 2006).

ROS generation is important in apoptosis induction involving mitochondria. The generation of ROS is an early event occurring in response to VE analogues. Mitochondrial respiratory chain within the MIM is a major intracellular source of ROS, which cause damage to lipids, proteins and DNA, leading to alteration or loss of cellular function and, consequently, trigger or amplify the destabilization of the MOM. α -TOS is able to induce ROS accumulation in many different cancer cell lines, most probably originally in the form of superoxide anion radicals (Weber et al. 2003). Substantial accumulation of ROS in Jurkat T lymphoma cells was observed within 1 h, most likely as a result of disrupting the electron flow within the mitochondrial complex II (CII) in the respiratory chain when the cells were challenged with α -TOS (Weber et al. 2003; Dong et al. 2008).

3.1.2 Apoptotic Signalling Downstream of Mitochondria

Although the initial apoptosis triggers have not been completely resolved, the events in apoptosis induced by VE analogues downstream of mitochondria are relatively well understood. During the apoptotic process induced by VE

analogues, down-stream events of mitochondrial destabilization comprise mobilization of apoptosis mediators, including cytochrome c, the apoptosisinducing factor (AIF), and Smac/Diablo. In turn, they set in motion a series of biochemical events that mediate the execution phase of the cell death programme resulting in the degradation of both key proteins by caspases and of genomic DNA by endonucleases.

Cytochrome c is a key player in mitochondria-dependent apoptosis, leading to caspase activation. The soluble protein is anchored to the MIM via its affinity to the mitochondria-specific phospholipid cardiolipin (CL), and the binding is disrupted upon oxidation of CL by ROS derived from the OXPHOS complexes. Increasing evidence suggests that ROS play a key role in promoting cytochrome c release from the mitochondria upon exposure of cancer cells to α -TOS, and the protein in the cytoplasm triggers activation of the caspase cascade that ultimately leads to apoptosis (Kogure et al. 2002). ROS induce dissociation of cytochrome c from CL by way of causing CL hydroperoxidation, which lowers the affinity of the phospholipid for cytochrome c, and the protein may then be released via the mitochondrial permeability transition (MPT)-dependent or MPT-independent mechanisms. ROS also promote Ca²⁺-dependent MPT, with swelling of the mitochondrial matrix and rupture of the MOM (Kakkar and Singh 2007), and MTP-independent mechanisms involving the voltage-dependent anion channel in the MOM or an oligomeric form of Bax (Petrosillo et al. 2003).

The mitochondrial pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins, including Bax, Bak, Bcl-2, Mcl-1 and Bcl- x_L , are important modulators related to apoptotic signalling pathway, regulating the formation of a mega-channel across the MOM (Cory et al. 2003). Generation of the MPT pore and translocation of Bax from the cytosol to the mitochondria have also been suggested as an important event upon exposure of cancer cells to α -TOS. This process is likely modulated by a balance between the Bcl-2 family of pro- and anti-apoptotic proteins (Yamamoto et al. 2000; Yu et al. 2003). Over-expression of Bax results in sensitization of cells to α -TOS-induced apoptosis, whereas over-expression of Bcl-2 or Bcl- x_L protects them from α -TOS. Likewise, down-regulation of Bcl-2 by antisense oligodeoxynucleotide treatment sensitized cells to the VE analogue (Weber et al. 2003).

Probably the most compelling evidence for mitochondria as major transmitters of apoptotic signalling induced by VE analogues stems from experiments in which ρ^0 cells were found to be resistant to α -TOS (Weber et al. 2003; Wang et al. 2005). It was found that cancer cells lacking mitochondrial DNA failed to translocate cytochrome c when challenged with α -TOS, unlike the apoptosissensitive parental cells, and also showed low levels of phosphatidyl serine externalization and caspase-3 activation. Similar resistance of ρ^0 cells has been found for other inducers of apoptosis, including tumour necrosis factor- α (TNF- α) (Higuchi et al. 1997).

Collectively, mitochondria are the critical intracellular organelles that relay the initial apoptotic signals downstream to the apoptosis commitment stage. It needs to be noticed, though, that other organelles may also be involved in apoptosis induced by VE analogues, such as lysosomes (Neuzil et al. 2002).

3.2 Mitochondria-Independent Apoptosis Induction by Vitamin E Analogues

Although mitochondria are central to apoptosis induction by VE analogues via the intrinsic signalling pathways, a number of extrinsic non-mitochondrial or cytoplasmic signalling pathways have also been implicated to play a role in apoptosis induction by VE analogues in many types of tumour cells. The extrinsic signalling pathways comprise a number of mediators, and it has been recently established that death receptor, mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), protein kinase C (PKC) and NF- κ B signalling pathways are all related to α -TOS-triggered apoptosis (Yu et al. 2001).

3.2.1 Activation of Death Receptors by Vitamin E Analogues

Activation of the extrinsic cell death pathway is initiated by ligation of cell surface death receptors (DRs) including Fas, the TNF receptor, and the TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (TRAIL) receptor-1 (DR4) and TRAIL receptor-2 (DR5). DRs are constitutively expressed on the surface of mammalian cells, and both the Fas and TRAIL systems are effective against carcinogenesis in pre-clinical models. Impaired apoptotic signalling pathways endow some types of malignant cells with resistance to DR-mediated apoptosis, and such tumours are rather difficult to treat (O'Connell et al. 2000; Cretney et al. 2002). It has been reported that α -TOS-mediated apoptosis involves DR signalling. For example, Fas-resistant breast cancer cells were sensitized by α -TOS via mobilization of the cytosolic Fas protein to the cell surface (Turley et al. 1997). In a separate study, expression of Fas, Fas-associated death domain and caspase-8 was enhanced after α -TOS treatment in gastric cancer cells, whereas Fas antisense oligonucleotides inhibited the expression of the Fas-associated death domain protein and decreased caspase-8 activity (Wu et al. 2002).

TRAIL has attracted attention as a selective immunological apoptogen with anticancer activity. Tumour cells escape from TRAIL-induced death signalling when the balance between DRs and the 'anti-apoptogenic' decoy receptors is altered, and the latter are expressed at a higher level. It was found that the combination of TRAIL with chemotherapeutics or radiation resulted in a synergistic apoptotic response proceeding via caspase-activating signals. α -TOS and TRAIL showed a synergistic pro-apoptotic activity both *in vitro* and *in vivo* for experimental colon cancer (Weber et al. 2002). α -TOS also sensitized the resistant MM and osteosarcoma cells to TRAIL. The IC₅₀ value of TRAIL treatment was greatly decreased when treating MM cells with sub-lethal doses of α -TOS, whereas an antagonistic effect of α -TOS on TRAIL sensitivity was found in the case of non-malignant mesothelial cells (Tomasetti et al. 2004). Combination of α -TOS and TRAIL resulted in enhanced apoptosis in a caspase- and p53-dependent manner (Weber et al. 2003; Tomasetti et al. 2006), and α -TOS elevated the expression of DR4 and DR5 without modulating the expression of the decoy receptors in MM cells (Tomasetti et al. 2004, 2006). α -TOS also enhanced the sensitivity of Jurkat T lymphoma cells to TRAIL-induced apoptosis by suppression of NF κ B activation (Dalen and Neuzil 2003). Thus, VE analogues may play a role in adjuvant therapy of DR-resistant cancers. These analogues can also be used alone, because they are expected to sensitize cancer cells to endogenous immunological inducers of apoptosis by cells of the immune system, thereby potentiating the natural tumour surveillance.

3.2.2 MAP Kinase Pathway and Apoptosis Induction by Vitamin E Analogues

The mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) pathway is one of the most frequently studied pathways in cancer. It plays an important role in the regulation of many processes that are critical to the malignant phenotype, and a variety of genetic alterations that activate the pathway have been detected in different types of cancer. As a result, the search for compounds that inhibit the pathway has been an active area of investigation for many years (Davies and Kopetz 2013). The importance of the MAPK pathway is in the control of cellular responses to the environment and in the regulation of gene expression, cell growth, and apoptosis, making it a priority for research related to many disorders (Fang and Richardson 2005). The c-Jun N-terminal kinases (JNKs), along with Erk and p38, constitute the principle members of the MAPK family (Johnson and Lapadat 2002; Wagner and Nebreda 2009). JNKs function primarily through the activator protein-1 (AP-1) family of transcription factors to regulate a plethora of cellular processes, including cell proliferation, differentiation, survival and migration (Zhang and Selim 2012). There is also a cross-talks and integration with other signalling pathways in a cell contextspecific and cell type-specific manner (Wagner and Nebreda 2009). JNKs were originally identified as the major kinase responsible for the phosphorylation of c-jun, leading to increased transcriptional activity of AP-1, again largely in response to multiple cellular stimuli, including stress events, growth factors, and cytokines (Nishina et al. 2004).

Kline's group was the first to report a role of JNK and c-jun in α -TOS-induced apoptosis. The VE analogue up-regulated c-jun expression in different types of cancer cells (Qian et al. 1996; Yu et al. 1997). α -TOS-triggered apoptosis involves a prolonged increase in c-jun expression, and AP-1 trans-activation and transfection of dominant-negative c-jun reduced α -TOS-mediated apoptosis. It was subsequently demonstrated that α -TOS enhanced ERK1/2 and JNK activity but not the p38 kinase activity (Yu et al. 2001). Increased phosphorylation and trans-activation of c-jun and ATF-2 were also observed in cells exposed to α -TOS.

Three upstream components of the JNK cascade, apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1, growth arrest DNA damage-inducible 45 β , and stress-activated protein kinase/ERK kinase-1 were all induced, and the level of phospho-JNK was also noticeably increased in prostate cancer cells in response to α -TOS (Zu et al. 2005). Dominant-negative JNK significantly reduced c-jun expression and apoptosis triggered by the agent. On the other hand, α -TOS stimulated early activation of ERK1/2

and, in turn, reduced the ERK activity concomitant with the activation of PKC in HL60 cells. However, blockage of ERK activity showed no significant effects on α -TOS-triggered apoptosis (Bang et al. 2001). Conversely, it was reported that α -TOS and α -tocopheryloxybutyric acid inhibited ERK phosphorylation and activated p38 in breast cancer cells (Akazawa et al. 2002). The discrepancy in the role of ERK activity may result from differences in the treatment time in that ERK can be rapidly and transiently induced by α -TOS, but longer exposures may lead to the suppression of ERK activation. Thus, there is strong evidence that the JNK cascade is an important modulator of apoptosis induced by α -TOS. However, it is not clear at this stage how this signalling pathway is linked to the destabilization of mitochondria by the VE analogue.

3.3 Role of Protein Kinase C in Apoptosis Induced by Vitamin E Analogues

Protein kinase C (PKC) has been a tantalizing target for drug discovery ever since it was first identified as the receptor for the tumour promoter phorbol ester in 1982 (Mochly-Rosen et al. 2012). It forms a multi-gene family of phospholipid-dependent serine/threonine protein kinases involved in modulation of divergent biological functions (Spitaler and Cantrell 2004). Much of the interest in PKC began with the discovery that members of this family of isozymes are activated in various diseases (Mochly-Rosen et al. 2012), including diabetes (Geraldes and King 2010), cancer (Totoń et al. 2011), ischaemic heart disease (Inagaki et al. 2006) and heart failure (Ferreira et al. 2011). PKC is normally present in an inactive form. Binding of cofactors to the regulatory domain induces conformational changes that result in the activation of the enzyme, which is usually associated with its membrane translocation (Basu 2003). Treatment of Jurkat cells with α -TOS caused a decrease in PKC activity by activation of PP2A, leading to hypophosphorylation of PKCa and decreased phosphorylation of Bcl-2 on Ser70 (Ruvolo et al. 1998; Neuzil et al. 2001c). Phorbol-12-myristate-13-acetate, a PKC activator, efficiently protected the cells from apoptosis induced by α -TOS, indicating an inhibitory role of PKC in the regulation of apoptosis (Neuzil et al. 2001c).

PKC isozymes can also be activated by proteolytic separation of the regulatory and the catalytic domain. Several members of the PKC family have now been identified as substrates for caspases. During apoptosis, activation of caspases results in the cleavage of PKC isozymes followed by PKC activation (Endo et al. 2000; Smith et al. 2003). It was shown that α -TOS induced apoptosis via activation of PKC β II and promoted PKC α membrane translocation, concomitant with a decline in ERK activity (Bang et al. 2001). The differences in the effects of α -TOS on PKC in relation to apoptosis might be due to the presence of specific PKC isozymes in cells of different origin, resulting in different or even opposing effects on the outcome of apoptosis.

3.4 Role of Nuclear Factor-κB in Apoptosis Induced by Vitamin E Analogues

NFκB signalling plays a critical role in cancer development and progression (Karin 2006). NFκB provides a mechanistic link between inflammation and cancer, and is a major factor controlling the ability of both pre-neoplastic and malignant cells to resist apoptosis-based tumour-surveillance mechanisms. NFκB might also regulate tumour angiogenesis and invasiveness, and the signalling pathways that mediate its activation provide attractive targets for new chemopreventive and chemotherapeutic approaches (Karin 2006). Activation of the multi-complex transcription factor NFκB is crucial for a wide variety of cellular responses. In non-stimulated cells, NFκB is sequestered in the cytoplasm by the inhibitory κ B (IkB). Upon activation by a number of stimuli, the IkB protein is rapidly degraded, allowing translocation of NFκB into the nucleus and binding to cognate-response elements. In addition to its fundamental role in regulation of immune and inflammatory responses, NFκB also exerts anti-apoptotic activities.

In line with the above, it was found that NF κ B activation stimulated by TNF- α was inhibited by α -TOS in Jurkat and endothelial cells (Suzuki and Packer 1993; Neuzil et al. 2001a), possibly sensitizing them to apoptosis induction. Because activation of NF κ B is negatively associated with apoptosis induced by TRAIL in multiple cancer cells, agents that inhibit NF κ B activation may convert TRAIL-resistant to TRAIL-sensitive cells. TRAIL may transiently activate NF κ B, thereby delaying the onset of apoptosis. We found that α -TOS has the capacity to overcome this resistance by suppressing TRAIL-stimulated NF κ B activation. This is based on modulating the degradation of I κ B, which sensitizes cells to the effect of TRAIL (Dalen and Neuzil 2003).

4 Vitamin E Analogues, Anti-cancer Agents Targeting Mitochondria

Cancer is an ever-increasing neoplastic disease that has been a major threaten of the mankind for centuries. In 2012, over a million of Americans, representing an industrialized nation, were diagnosed with cancer, and most of them suffered more from metastatic tumours and drug side-effects rather than from the initial tumours. Despite great advances in molecular medicine and increasing understanding of molecular signalling pathways related to cancer as well as great efforts to develop better treatments, currently there is still no selective and efficient cure for most types of cancer.

As mentioned before, mitochondria have come into the focus of current research of cancer biologists, since they have emerged as an intriguing target for anti-cancer drugs, inherent to vast majority if not all cancer types. The exceptional potential of mitochondria as an emerging and perspective target for anti-cancer agents has been reinforced by the discouraging finding that there are different mutations in individual areas even in the same tumour in one patient (Gerlinger et al. 2012). This is consistent

with the idea of personalised therapy, an elusive goal at this stage, in line with the notion that tumours are unlikely to be treated by agents that target only a single gene or a single pathway. This endows mitochondria, an invariant target present in all tumours, with an exceptional momentum. Drugs that target mitochondria and exert anti-cancer activity have become a focus of recent research due to their great clinical potential. Mitochondria, whilst being the 'powerhouse' of the cell, are also reservoirs of a number of apoptosis-promoting proteins that are essential for apoptosis induction and its progression downstream of these organelles, in order for the cancer cell to shift into the commitment phase and to undergo the final demise (Galluzzi et al. 2010). It is also important to take into consideration the aberrant mitochondrial metabolism of malignant cells (Koppenol et al. 2011; Ward and Thompson 2012). Thus, the recent decade has witnessed an unprecedented focus on and discovery of novel agents that target mitochondria to induce cancer cell death, which opened a new paradigm of efficient cancer therapy and is likely to benefit cancer patients in the (near) future.

Mitochondria are proving to be worthy targets for activating specific killing of cancer cells in tumours and a diverse range of mitochondrially targeted drugs are currently in clinical trial to determine their effectiveness as anti-cancer therapies. The mechanism of action of many mitochondrially targeted anti-cancer drugs relies on their ability to disrupt the energy producing systems of cancer cell mitochondria, leading to increased generation of ROS and activation of the mitochondrially dependent cell death signalling pathways within cancer cells. We believe that targeting mitochondria for tumour treatment may lead to a potential future breakthrough in the management of neoplastic pathologies. To better classify the various group of agents that act by mitochondrial destabilisation, we proposed the term mitocans (Ralph et al. 2006; Neuzil et al. 2006).

Mitocans, an acronym for 'mitochondria and cancer', are small compounds that in many cases selectively kill cancer cells via mitochondrial destabilisation, whereby inducing apoptosis, often via generation of ROS. They are classified into eight subgroups based on the site of action of the individual agents, from the surface of the MOM to the mitochondrial matrix (Fig. 7.4). The selection of the sites also stems from their importance as targets for the development of drugs that hold substantial promise to be utilised in the clinical practice. VE analogues that act by targeting mitochondria to cause ROS production and, as well, to boost the immune surveillance, exemplify a group of mitocans. The role of ROS production and the events leading to the activation of the inflammasome and pro-inflammatory mediators induced by dying cancer cell mitochondria are later on discussed along with the evidence for their contribution to promoting immune responses against cancer (Hahn et al. 2013).

4.1 α -Tocopheryl Succinate

 α -Tocopheryl succinate (α -TOS), bearing a succinyl ester at position C6 of the chromanol ring (Fig. 7.4), belongs to class 2 (BH3 mimetics group) and class 5 (electron transport chain targeting drugs) sub-groups of mitocans. It has been shown

Fig. 7.4 Schematic illustration of molecular targets of individual class of mitocans. Vitamin E analogues belong to both class 2 (BH3 mimetics and related agents that impair the function of the anti-apoptotic Bcl-2 family proteins), class 5 (compounds targeting the mitochondrial electron transport chain) and class 8 (compounds targeting mtDNA)



to be a potent apoptosis inducer and growth inhibitor in a variety of cancer cells. This agent has the selectivity to kill malignant cells at concentrations non-toxic to normal cells and tissues (Neuzil et al. 2001b) and regardless whether the cells feature mutations in key tumour suppressor genes, such as p53 (Weber et al. 2002). Importantly, α -TOS also has been shown to exert anti-cancer activity in a wide range of solid tumours in pre-clinical models, including the difficult-to-treat melanomas, mesotheliomas, HER2-positive breast carcinomas, as well as prostate and colorectal tumours. So far, α -TOS has been shown to suppress tumour growth in up to 15 types of cancer (Wang et al. 2005; Neuzil et al. 2001c; Malafa et al. 2002; Stapelberg et al. 2005).

The molecular mechanism underlying the selectivity of α -TOS and similar agents for malignant cells results from at least two mechanisms. One relates to the ester structure of α -TOS and is due to the generally higher levels of esterases in normal cells such as hepatocytes, colonocytes, fibroblasts or cardiomyocytes that cleave α -TOS to produce vitamin E (Don and Hogg 2004; Fariss et al. 2001). Another reason for the cancer cell-specific toxicity of α -TOS may be related to the inherent property of many inducers of apoptosis to trigger programmed cell death by initially inducing cells to accumulate ROS that, in turn, cause a cascade of subsequent reactions leading to the transition of the cell into the apoptosis commitment phase (Simon et al. 2000). α-TOS has been reported to induce ROS accumulation in many different cancer cell lines, most probably resulting in the generation of superoxide anion radicals (Kogure et al. 2001, 2002; Malafa et al. 2002; Swettenham et al. 2005). In addition, it has been reported that cancer cells feature lower antioxidant defences than normal cells. For example, malignant cells express lower levels of manganese superoxide dismutase (MnSOD) compared to nonmalignant cells. Moreover, we have found that proliferating endothelial cells,

unlike their confluent (growth-arrested) counterparts, are susceptible to α -TOSinduced apoptosis (Neuzil et al. 2001a), endowing α -TOS the ability to selectively kill proliferating endothelial cells and inhibit angiogenesis in mouse tumour models (Dong et al. 2007).

An important discovery demonstrated that α -TOS has a unique target to perform its biological (apoptogenic) activity. Research from Neuzil's group found that α -TOS induces cancer cell apoptosis by targeting the mitochondrial complex II (CII). More specifically, α -TOS inhibits the succinate quinone reductase (SQR) activity of CII by interacting with the proximal and distal ubiquinone (UbQ) binding site (Q_P and Q_D, respectively) (Dong et al. 2008). Additional work documented that CII is also a target for α -TOS in a pre-clinical tumour model, since tumours with mutant CII (a stop codon mutation in the CII's subunit SDHC) were not responsive to the agent unlike the wild-type or reconstituted CII tumours (Dong et al. 2009). This is the first time that a molecular target of α -TOS has been defined. CII as the target indicates that the agent may be an efficient anti-cancer drug since genes coding for the four subunits of CII only rarely mutate (for example there is only one mutation in CII per one million breast cancer patients).

Recent studies from Gogvadze's group also emphasized the importance of mitochondria as a target for α -TOS. The agent was shown by these researchers to trigger cancer cell apoptosis via targeting mitochondria, more specifically by stimulating rapid entry of Ca²⁺ into the cytosol, compromising the Ca²⁺ buffering capacity of mitochondria and sensitising them to mitochondrial permeability transition and subsequent apoptotic cell death. This mechanism was reported for neuroblastoma cells that were found to be killed by α -TOS irrespective of their *MycN* oncogene expression level and amplification (Kruspig et al. 2012).

Collectively, there is ample evidence for α -TOS (and similar agents) to kill cancer cells by destabilising mitochondria. Therefore, it seems a logical next step to modify the drugs in such a way that they accumulate in mitochondria, i.e. in the proximity of their molecular target.

4.2 Mitochondrially Targeted Vitamin E Succinate

Although α -TOS acts on mitochondria, it does not discriminate between the different membranous intracellular compartments. Therefore, we modified the structure of α -TOS in order to generate a variant of the agent that would be directly targeted to mitochondria, so that its apoptogenic activity would be increased. Based on the previous work of synthesis and testing of a series of mitochondrially targeted antioxidants by tagging them with the positively charged triphenylphosphonium group (TPP⁺) (Murphy and Smith 2007), producing very efficient redox-active compounds (Kelso et al. 2001; James et al. 2007), our group prepared the mitochondrially targeted vitamin E succinate (MitoVES) by adding the TPP⁺ group to the hydrophobic chain of vitamin E succinate. The result of this modification was the preferential localisation of the agent in mitochondria, greatly enhancing its pro-apoptotic and anti-cancer activity (Dong et al. 2011a, b; Rohlena et al. 2011).

MitoVES, besides accumulating in mitochondria, has another advantage: its mitochondrial accumulation is based on the $\Delta \Psi_{m,i}$, which is considerably higher (in negative values) in cancer cells than in normal cells (Modica-Napolitano and Aprille 2001; Fantin et al. 2002). Due to the chemical structure of MitoVES, the compound is expected to be positioned such that the positive charge of the TPP⁺ group is adjacent to the interface of the MIM and matrix and its hydrophobic alkyl chain spans the MIM with the tocopheryl succinyl group juxtapositioned to its molecular target, the UbO-site of CII. Our recent research documents that the prototypic compound of such a targeted VE analogue, MitoVES, is some 1-2 orders of magnitude more efficient in apoptosis induction than the untargeted parental compound α -TOS, while maintaining selectivity for malignant cells (Dong et al. 2011a, b). One reason is that at relatively low levels, high percentage of the MitoVES pool (90-95 %) accumulates in mitochondria, resulting in very fast generation of ROS (within minutes) and changes in mitochondrial morphology (10-15 min). This then causes the modulation of expression of Bcl-2 family proteins. More specifically, we found that the ROS generated in response to MitoVES activates the Mst1 kinase that, in turn, phosphorylates the transcription factor FoxO1. Phosphorylated FoxO1 then translocates to the nucleus where it activates transcription of the BH3-only protein Noxa that, in turn, diverts Mcl-2 from Bak that can then form a channel in the MOM (Dong et al. 2011a, b; Valis et al. 2011).

MitoVES proved to be superior in suppression of experimental tumours compared to the untargeted analogue, as we showed for breast cancer, colon cancer and mesothelioma (Dong et al. 2011a, b; Kovarova et al. 2014). Based on the prototypic MitoVES targeting the mitochondrial CII, we propose that mitochondrially targeted delivery of anti-cancer agents offers a new paradigm for increasing the efficacy of compounds with anti-cancer activity (Figs. 7.5, 7.6). Accordingly, preparation of novel anti-cancer agents by tagging other compounds that target mitochondrial complexes is imminent and we are conducting relevant experiments.

An interesting way how to possibly suppress tumour promotion avoiding the many mutations in cancer cells is targeting angiogenesis. In this regard, we found that MitoVES efficiently kills proliferating endothelial cells (ECs) but not contact-arrested ECs or ECs deficient in mitochondrial DNA. It also suppressed angiogenesis *in vitro* by inducing accumulation of ROS and induction of apoptosis in proliferating/angiogenic ECs. Resistance of arrested ECs was ascribed, at least in part, to lower $\Delta \Psi_{m,i}$ of quiescent ECs compared with their proliferating counterparts, resulting in the lower level of mitochondrial uptake of MitoVES. (Rohlena et al. 2011).

Additional studies on energy-related mitochondrial function using isolated mitochondria demonstrated that MitoVES stimulates basal respiration and ATP hydrolysis, but inhibits net state 3 (ADP-stimulated) respiration and Ca²⁺ uptake by collapsing $\Psi \Delta_{m,i}$ at low doses, acting as an uncoupler (1–5 μ M). At higher doses (> 5 μ M), MitoVES targets the SQR activity of the mitochondrial CII. Uncoupled



Fig. 7.6 MitoVES suppresses tumour progression. (a) FVB/N c-neu mice with breast carcinomas and (b) Balb c nu/nu mice with xenografts derived from HCT116 cells were treated by ip injection of 1–2 μ mol MitoVES or 15 μ mol α -TOS per mouse every 3–4 days, and tumors were visualized and their volume was quantified using ultrasound imaging (panel (c) shows representative ultrasound images of tumours acquired on given days, panel (d) documents representative tumours at the end of the experiment. (Adapted from Dong et al. 2011a, b)

mitochondrial respiration and basal respiration of SMPs were inhibited by VE analogues with the following efficacy: MitoVES> α -TEA> α -TOS (Rodríguez-Enríquez et al. 2012). The same authors also showed that MitoVES inhibited oxidative phosphorylation and induced ATP depletion in rodent and human cancer cells more potently than in normal rat hepatocytes. This is consistent with our recent data that *in vivo*, cancer cell mitochondria are a preferred target of MitoVES compared to normal cells (such as found for kidney, heart or liver; Truksa et al. unpublished data). Collectively, these findings are consistent with and corroborate the notion that targeting of anti-cancer agents to mitochondria enhances their anti-cancer efficacy and, as shown for MitoVES, maintains their selectivity for malignant cells.

4.3 α-Tocopheryloxyacetic Acid

 α -TEA is an ether analogue of VE with potent anti-cancer actions via activation of pro-apoptotic pathways and suppression of pro-survival pathways both *in vitro* and *in vivo*. It has been shown to suppress tumour growth in various murine and human xenograft tumour models, including melanoma, breast, lung, prostate, and ovarian cancers (Jia et al. 2008; Yu et al. 2006; Dong et al. 2012). α -TEA has also been shown to exhibit anti-metastatic activities in xenografts, syngeneic and spontaneous mouse models of breast cancer. Importantly, similar to α -TOS, α -TEA has the ability to possess anti-cancer properties that are selective for cancer cells, to reduce tumour burden and metastases *in vivo* with no or very low toxicity to normal tissues (Yu et al. 2006; Lawson et al. 2004; Latimer et al. 2009; Hahn et al. 2009; Shun et al. 2010). This gives α -TEA a great potential for future drug development for clinical use.

 α -TEA is a stable semi-synthetic analogue of naturally occurring VE. It is derived from α -tocopherol by a chemical modification, replacing the hydroxyl group C6 of the phenolic ring with an acetic acid residue linked via an ether bond (Fig. 7.5). This modification makes α -TEA redox-silent, while making it active against tumours (Lawson et al. 2003; Hahn et al. 2006). The presence of the non-cleavable ether bond ensures the stability of α -TEA, allowing it to be delivered via the oral route in a biologically active form (Dong et al. 2012). An earlier report documented that α -TEA, when given orally (incorporated into mouse chow), significantly inhibited the progression of breast cancers and strongly reduced the incidence of spontaneous lung metastases before and after primary tumour establishment without general toxicity (Lawson et al. 2003). A number of reports from different groups have showed that apoptosis is a primary mode of α -TEA-induced tumour cell death (Kline et al. 2001; Neuzil et al. 2004). However, since the antitumor activity of α -TEA could not be completely blocked using pan-caspase or caspase-specific inhibitors (Jia et al. 2008), additional pathway(s) may be involved in α -TEA-mediated tumour cell killing, such as mitochondria-independent signalling pathways.

It has been reported that α -TEA induces apoptosis in MCF-7 and HCC-1954 breast cancer cells via TRAIL/DR5-induced activation of caspase-8 that is relayed to mitochondria-dependent pro-apoptotic pathway by increasing the DR5 and TRAIL protein levels, and via suppression of the anti-apoptotic protein c-FLIP by decreasing its levels. This mitochondria-dependent apoptosis signalling pathway involves the initial activation of caspase-8 followed by cleavage of Bid to tBid, activation of the Bax protein (its translocation to the MOM) and increased mitochondrial permeability transition. The data suggest that that α -TEA has the potential as a treatment for human breast cancer either as a stand-alone drug or in combination with the recombinant TRAIL protein or antagonistic antibodies to the TRAIL receptor (Yu et al. 2010). Mechanistic studies showed that the major events necessary and sufficient for inducing apoptosis of cancer cells with α -TEA include the activation of pro-apoptotic mechanisms such as signalling via the Fas receptor/Fas ligand, and endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress involving JNK/CHOP/DR5 and p73/Noxa, leading to caspase-8 activation followed by mitochondria-dependent apoptotic cascade of reactions (Hahn et al. 2009, 2011; Shun et al. 2010). One report documented that α -TEA disrupts the cholesterol-rich micro-domains, acting cooperatively with a selective estrogen-receptor modulator to reduce pro-survival mediators, and induces DR5-mediated mitochondria-dependent apoptosis via the ER stress-mediated pro-apoptotic pJNK/CHOP/DR5 amplification loop (Lawson et al. 2003; Tiwary et al. 2010).

A previous report suggested that α -TEA suppresses the phosphatidylinositol-3kinase (PI3K)/Akt/ERK pathways via JNK-mediated down-regulation of insulinreceptor substrate (IRS-1) (Tiwary et al. 2011b). It induced apoptosis in human MCF-7 and HCC-1954 breast cancer cells by suppressing constitutively active basal levels of pAKT, pERK, p-mTOR, and their downstream targets. In addition, α -TEA increased levels of pIRS-1 (Ser-307), a phosphorylation site correlated with insulin receptor substrate-1 (IRS-1) inactivation, as well as of total IRS-1. Downregulation of the IRS-1/PI3K pathways via JNK are critical for α -TEA and α -TEA + MEK or mTOR inhibitor-induced apoptosis in human MCF-7 and HCC-1954 breast cancer cells (Tiwary et al. 2011b). α -TEA has also been shown to induce cancer cell death, at least in part, by down-regulation of members of the EGFR family (Shun et al. 2010).

Collectively, there is ample data documenting the potential of α -TEA as an anticancer agent. Except for some specific activities in cancer cells, the ether can be considered as a stable 'homologue' of the prototypic anti-cancer VE analogue, α -TOS. From the application point of view, the great advantage of α -TEA is that it can be applied orally, while α -TOS has to reach the site of the tumour while bypassing the alimentary system, where it is completely hydrolysed to the non-apoptogenic vitamin E.

5 Vitamin E Analogues as Stimulants of the Immune System

Recent research demonstrated that, in addition to the direct cytotoxic effects, α -TEA stimulates anti-tumour immune responses, resulting in higher level of infiltration of activated T cells in the tumour microenvironment and increased ratios of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells to regulatory T cells in the tumour, respectively (Hahn et al. 2011; Tiwary et al. 2011a). Moreover, autophagy has been found to be involved in the immune system stimulation by α -TEA, since autophagy plays an essential role in the major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II-restricted antigen presentation (Münz 2009), and recently its role in MHC class I–restricted stimulation of CD8⁺ T cells (cross-presentation) has been documented (Li et al. 2008; Kepp et al. 2009). A recent report indicates that α -TEA triggers tumour cell autophagy and improves cross-presentation of tumour antigens to the immune system. α -TEA stimulated both apoptosis and autophagy in murine mammary and lung cancer cells. These findings suggest that both autophagy and apoptosis signalling programmes

are activated during α -TEA-induced tumour cell killing (Li et al. 2012), endowing the agent with a very interesting pattern of bioactivities.

6 Conclusions

Taken together, VE analogues are potent anti-cancer agents that selectively kill cancer cells with the advantage of limited side effects on normal cells, as also shown for high level of toxicity of the agents to cancer tissues and low (if any) deleterious effects on normal tissues. Mitochondria act as targets for VE analogues, relaying the selective apoptotic signals shifting cancer cells to the commitment phase of programmed cell death. The VE analogues α -TOS, α -TEA and MitoVES epitomize mitocans, a large group of compounds acting as anti-cancer agents by destabilizing mitochondria. These compounds present a source of very promising, potentially highly effective and selective lead structures hopefully leading to exciting new developments in cancer therapy. The predominant mechanism of action whereby mitochondria-targeted anticancer drugs kill cancer cells is linked to the ability of these drugs to disrupt the energy-producing systems of cancer cells (concentrated in mitochondria), leading to increased accumulation of ROS and the activation of the mitochondria-dependent death signalling pathways. There is little doubt that, given recent advances in anti-cancer research, mitocans will become an integral part of modern weaponry in the fight to eliminate cancer, although there is still a lot of work to achieve this goal. Notwithstanding this, the authors are optimistic and can 'see the light at the end of the (apparently) long tunnel'.

Acknowledgements This work was supported in part by the National Health and Medical Research Council grant to J.N., the Australian Research Council grant to J.N. and L.F.D., and a grant from the Czech Science Foundation (P301/10/1937) to J.N., and by the BIOCEV European Regional Development Fund CZ.1.05/1.1.00/02.0109.

References

- Aggarwal BB, Sundaram C, Prasad S, Kannappan R (2010) Tocotrienols, the vitamin E of the 21st century: its potential against cancer and other chronic diseases. Biochem Pharmacol 80:1613–1631
- Akazawa A, Nishikawa K, Suzuki K, Asano R, Kumadaki I, Satoh H, Hagiwara K, Shin SJ, Yano T (2002) Induction of apoptosis in a human breast cancer cell overexpressing ErbB-2 receptor by α-tocopheryloxybutyric acid. Jpn J Pharmacol 89:417–421
- Alirol E, Martinou JC (2006) Mitochondria and cancer: is there a morphological connection? Oncogene 25:4706–4716
- Angulo-Molina A, Reyes-Leyva J, López-Malo A, Hernández J (2014) The Role of a-tocopheryl succinate (a-TOS) as a potential anticancer agent. Nutr Cancer 66:167–176
- Ayoub NM, Bachawal SV, Sylvester PW (2011) γ-Tocotrienol inhibits HGF-dependent mitogenesis and Met activation in highly malignant mammary tumour cells. Cell Prolif 44:516–526

- Azzi A, Ricciarelli R, Zingg JM (2002) Non-antioxidant molecular functions of α-tocopherol (vitamin E). FEBS Lett 22:8–10
- Bachawal SV, Wali VB, Sylvester PW (2010) Combined γ-tocotrienol and erlotinib/gefitinib treatment suppresses Stat and Akt signalling in murine mammary tumor cells. Anticancer Res 30:429–437
- Bang OS, Park JH, Kang SS (2001) Activation of PKC but not of ERK is required for vitamin E-succinate-induced apoptosis of HL-60 cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 288:789–797
- Basu A (2003) Involvement of protein kinase C-delta in DNA damage-induced apoptosis. J Cell Mol Med 7:341–350
- Behery FA, Elnagar AY, Akl MR, Wali VB, Abuasal B, Kaddoumi A, Sylvester PW, El Sayed KA (2010) Redox-silent tocotrienol esters as breast cancer proliferation and migration inhibitors. Bioorg Med Chem 18:8066–8075
- Birringer M, Pfluger P, Kluth D, Landes N, Brigelius-Flohé R (2002) Identities and differences in the metabolism of tocotrienols and tocopherols in HepG2 cells. J Nutr 132:3113–3118
- Birringer M, EyTina JH, Salvatore BA, Neuzil J (2003) Vitamin E analogues as inducers of apoptosis: structure-function relation. Br J Cancer 88:1948–1955
- Bunyan J, McHale D, Green J, Marcinkiewicz S (1961) Biological potencies of ε- and ζ-1tocopherol and 5-methyltocol. Br J Nutr 15:253–257
- Cai X, Khdour OM, Jaruvangsanti J, Hecht SM (2012) Simplified bicyclic pyridinol analogues protect mitochondrial function. Bioorg Med Chem 20:3584–3595
- Cory S, Huang DC, Adams JM (2003) The Bcl-2 family: roles in cell survival and oncogenesis. Oncogene 22:8590–8607
- Cretney E, Takeda K, Yagita H, Glaccum M, Peschon JJ, Smyth MJ (2002) Increased susceptibility to tumor initiation and metastasis in TNF-related apoptosis-inducing ligand-deficient mice. J Immunol 168:1356–1361
- Dalen H, Neuzil J (2003) α-Tocopheryl succinate sensitises T lymphoma cells to TRAIL killing by suppressing NF-κB activation. Br J Cancer 88:153–158
- Davies MA, Kopetz S (2013) Overcoming resistance to MAPK pathway inhibitors. J Natl Cancer Inst 105:9–10
- Don AS, Hogg PJ (2004) Mitochondria as cancer drug targets. Trends Mol Med 10:372-378
- Dong LF, Swettenham E, Eliasson J, Wang XF, Gold M, Medunic Y, Stantic M, Low P, Prochazka L, Witting PK, Turanek J, Akporiaye ET, Ralph SJ, Neuzil J (2007) Vitamin E analogues inhibit angiogenesis by selective induction of apoptosis in proliferating endothelial cells: the role of oxidative stress. Cancer Res 67:11906–11913
- Dong LF, Low P, Dyason JC, Wang XF, Prochazka L, Witting PK, Freeman R, Swettenham E, Valis K, Liu J, Zobalova R, Turanek J, Spitz DR, Domann FE, Scheffler IE, Ralph SJ, Neuzil J (2008) α-Tocopheryl succinate induces apoptosis by targeting ubiquinone-binding sites in mitochondrial respiratory complex II. Oncogene 27:4324–4335
- Dong LF, Freeman R, Liu J, Zobalova R, Marin-Hernandez A, Stantic M, Rohlena J, Rodriguez-Enriquez S, Valis K, Butcher B, Goodwin J, Brunk UT, Witting PK, Moreno-Sanchez R, Scheffler IE, Ralph SJ, Neuzil J (2009) Suppression of tumour growth *in vivo* by the mitocan α-tocopheryl succinate requires respiratory complex II. Clin Cancer Res 15:1593–1600
- Dong LF, Jameson VJ, Tilly D, Cerny J, Mahdavian E, Marín-Hernández A, Hernández-Esquivel L, Rodríguez-Enríquez S, Stursa J, Witting PK, Stantic B, Rohlena J, Truksa J, Kluckova K, Dyason JC, Ledvina M, Salvatore BA, Moreno-Sánchez R, Coster MJ, Ralph SJ, Smith RA, Neuzil J (2011a) Mitochondrial targeting of vitamin E succinate enhances its pro-apoptotic and anticancer activity via mitochondrial complex II. J Biol Chem 286:3717–3728
- Dong LF, Jameson VJ, Tilly D, Prochazka L, Rohlena J, Valis K, Truksa J, Zobalova R, Mahdavian E, Kluckova K, Stantic M, Stursa J, Freeman R, Witting PK, Norberg E, Goodwin J, Salvatore BA, Novotna J, Turanek J, Ledvina M, Hozak P, Zhivotovsky B, Coster MJ, Ralph SJ, Smith RA, Neuzil J (2011b) Mitochondrial targeting of α-tocopheryl succinate enhances its pro-apoptotic efficacy: a new paradigm for effective cancer therapy. Free Radic Biol Med 50:1546–1555

- Dong LF, Grant G, Massa H, Zobalova R, Akporiaye E, Neuzil J (2012) a-Tocopheryloxyacetic acid is superior to a-tocopheryl succinate in suppressing HER2-high breast carcinomas due to its higher stability. Int J Cancer 131:1052–1058
- Elnagar AY, Wali VB, Sylvester PW, El Sayed KA (2010) Design and preliminary structureactivity relationship of redox-silent semisynthetic tocotrienol analogues as inhibitors for breast cancer proliferation and invasion. Bioorg Med Chem 18:755–768
- Elson CE, Yu SG (1994) The chemoprevention of cancer by mevalonate-derived constituents of fruits and Vegetables. J Nutr 124:607–614
- Endo K, Oki E, Biedermann V, Kojima H, Yoshida K, Johannes FJ, Kufe D, Datta R (2000) Proteolytic cleavage and activation of protein kinase Cμ by caspase-3 in the apoptotic response of cells to 1-β-D-arabinofuranosylcytosine and other genotoxic agents. J Biol Chem 275:18476–18481
- Fang JY, Richardson BC (2005) The MAPK signalling pathways and colorectal cancer. Lancet Oncol 6:322–327
- Fantin VR, Berardi MJ, Scorrano L, Korsmeyer SJ, Leder P (2002) A novel mitochondriotoxic small molecule that selectively inhibits tumor cell growth. Cancer Cell 2:29–42
- Fariss MW, Nicholls-Grzemski FA, Tirmenstein MA, Zhang JG (2001) Enhanced antioxidant and cytoprotective abilities of vitamin E succinate is associated with a rapid uptake advantage in rat hepatocytes and mitochondria. Free Radic Biol Med 31:530–541
- Ferreira JC, Brum PC, Mochly-Rosen D (2011) βIIPKC and εPKC isozymes as potential pharmacological targets in cardiac hypertrophy and heart failure. J Mol Cell Cardiol 51:479–484
- Fulda S, Galluzzi L, Kroemer G (2010) Targeting mitochondria for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Drug Discov 9:447–464
- Galli F, Stabile AM, Betti M, Conte C, Pistilli A, Rende M, Floridi A, Azzi A (2004) The effect of α- and γ-tocopherol and their carboxyethyl hydroxychroman metabolites on prostate cancer cell proliferation. Arch Biochem Biophys 423:97–102
- Galluzzi L, Morselli E, Kepp O, Vitale I, Rigoni A, Vacchelli E, Michaud M, Zischka H, Castedo M, Kroemer G (2010) Mitochondrial gateways to cancer. Mol Aspects Med 31:1–20
- Geraldes P, King GL (2010) Activation of protein kinase C isoforms and its impact on diabetic complications. Circ Res 106:1319–1331
- Gerlinger M, Rowan AJ, Horswell S, Larkin J, Endesfelder D, Gronroos E, Martinez P, Matthews N, Stewart A, Tarpey P, Varela I, Phillimore B, Begum S, McDonald NQ, Butler A, Jones D, Raine K, Latimer C, Santos CR, Nohadani M, Eklund AC, Spencer-Dene B, Clark G, Pickering L, Stamp G, Gore M, Szallasi Z, Downward J, Futreal PA, Swanton C (2012) Intratumor heterogeneity and branched evolution revealed by multiregion sequencing. N Engl J Med 366:883–892
- Gianello R, Libinaki R, Azzi A, Gavin PD, Negis Y, Zingg JM, Holt P, Keah HH, Griffey A, Smallridge A, West SM, Ogru E (2005) α-Tocopheryl phosphate: a novel, natural form of vitamin E. Free Radic Biol Med 39:970–976
- Gill KK, Kaddoumi A, Nazzal S (2012) Mixed micelles of PEG(2000)-DSPE and vitamin-E TPGS for concurrent delivery of paclitaxel and parthenolide: enhanced chemosensitization and antitumor efficacy against non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) cell lines. Eur J Pharm Sci 46:64–71
- Gogvadze V, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B (2008) Mitochondria in cancer cells: what is so special about them? Trends Cell Biol 18:165–173
- Hahn T, Szabo L, Gold M, Ramanathapuram L, Hurley LH, Akporiaye ET (2006) Dietary administration of the pro-apoptotic vitamin E analogue α-tocopheryloxyacetic acid inhibits metastatic murine breast cancer. Cancer Res 66:9374–9378
- Hahn T, Fried K, Hurley LH, Akporiaye ET (2009) Orally active α-tocopheryloxyacetic acid suppresses tumor growth and multiplicity of spontaneous murine breast cancer. Mol Cancer Ther 8:1570–1578
- Hahn T, Jagadish B, Mash EA, Garrison K, Akporiaye ET (2011) α-Tocopheryloxyacetic acid: a novel chemotherapeutic that stimulates the antitumor immune response. Breast Cancer Res 13:R4

- Hahn T, Polanczyk MJ, Borodovsky A, Ramanathapuram LV, Akporiaye ET, Ralph SJ (2013) Use of anti-cancer drugs, mitocans, to enhance the immune responses against tumors. Curr Pharm Biotechnol 14:357–376
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2000) The hallmarks of cancer. Cell 100:57-70
- Hanahan D, Weinberg RA (2011) Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 144:646-674
- Hayden E (2008) Cancer complexity slows quest for cure. Nature 455:148
- He L, Mo H, Hadisusilo S, Qureshi AA, Elson CE (1997) Isoprenoids suppress the growth of murine B16 melanomas in vitro and in vivo. J Nutr 127:668–674
- Higuchi M, Aggarwal BB, Yeh ET (1997) Activation of CPP32-like protease in tumor necrosis factor-induced apoptosis is dependent on mitochondrial function. J Clin Invest 99:1751–1758
- Hosomi A, Arita M, Sato Y, Kiyose C, Ueda T, Igarashi O, Arai H, Inoue K (1997) Affinity for α -tocopherol transfer protein as a determinant of the biological activities of vitamin E analogs. FEBS Lett 409:105–108
- Inagaki K, Churchill E, Mochly-Rosen D (2006) Epsilon protein kinase C as a potential therapeutic target for the ischemic heart. Cardiovasc Res 70:222–230
- Inokuchi H, Hirokane H, Tsuzuki T, Nakagawa K, Igarashi M, Miyazawa T (2003) Anti-angiogenic activity of tocotrienol. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 67:1623–1627
- Ivanova AN, Belsky YP, Spivak AY, Danilets MG, Belska NV, Chalitova RR, Ligatcheva AA, Uchasova EG (2011) In vitro effect of combined hybrid molecules from vitamin E analogues and betulinic acid on macrophage activity. Bull Exp Biol Med 151:694–697
- James AM, Sharpley MS, Manas AR, Frerman FE, Hirst J, Smith RA, Murphy MP (2007) Interaction of the mitochondria-targeted antioxidant MitoQ with phospholipid bilayers and ubiquinone oxidoreductases. J Biol Chem 282:14708–14718
- Jia L, Yu W, Wang P, Sanders BG, Kline K (2008) In vivo and in vitro studies of anticancer actions of α -TEA for human prostate cancer cells. Prostate 68:849–860
- Johnson GL, Lapadat R (2002) Mitogen-activated protein kinase pathways mediated by ERK, JNK, and p38 protein kinases. Science 298:1911–1912
- Jones S, Zhang X, Parsons DW, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Kamiyama H, Jimeno A, Hong SM, Fu B, Lin MT, Calhoun ES, Kamiyama M, Walter K, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Hartigan J, Smith DR, Hidalgo M, Leach SD, Klein AP, Jaffee EM, Goggins M, Maitra A, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, Eshleman JR, Kern SE, Hruban RH, Karchin R, Papadopoulos N, Parmigiani G, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW (2008) Core signaling pathways in human pancreatic cancers revealed by global genomic analyses. Science 321:1801–1806
- Jordan M, Nayel A, Brownlow B, Elbayoumi T (2012) Development and evaluation of tocopherolrich argan oil-based nanoemulsions as vehicles possessing anticancer activity. J Biomed Nanotechnol 8:944–956
- Kakkar P, Singh BK (2007) Mitochondria: A hub of redox activities and cellular distress control. Mol Cell Biochem 305:235–253
- Kamal-Eldin A, Appelqvist LA (1996) The chemistry and antioxidant properties of tocopherols and tocotrienols. Lipids 31:671–701
- Kani K, Momota Y, Harada M, Yamamura Y, Aota K, Yamanoi T, Takano H, Motegi K, Azuma M (2013) γ-Tocotrienol enhances the chemosensitivity of human oral cancer cells to docetaxel through the downregulation of the expression of NF-κB-regulated anti-apoptotic gene products. Int J Oncol 42:75–82
- Karin M (2006) Nuclear factor-KB in cancer development and progression. Nature 441:431-436
- Kelso GF, Porteous CM, Coulter CV, Hughes G, Porteous WK, Ledgerwood EC, Smith RA, Murphy MP (2001) Selective targeting of a redox-active ubiquinone to mitochondria within cells: antioxidant and antiapoptotic properties. J Biol Chem 276:4588–4596
- Kepp O, Tesniere A, Schlemmer F, Michaud M, Senovilla L, Zitvogel L, Kroemer G (2009) Immunogenic cell death modalities and their impact on cancer treatment. Apoptosis 14:364–375
- Kline K, Yu W, Sanders BG (2001) Vitamin E: mechanisms of action as tumor cell growth inhibitors. J Nutr 131:161S–163S

- Koba K, Abe K, Ikeda I, Suhano M (1992) Effects of α-tocopherol and tocotrienols on blood pressure and linoleic acid metabolism in spontaneously hypertensive rat (SHR). Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 56:1420–1423
- Kogure K, Morita M, Nakashima S, Hama S, Tokumura A, Fukuzawa K (2001) Superoxide is responsible for apoptosis in rat vascular smooth muscle cells induced by α-tocopheryl hemisuccinate. Biochim Biophys Acta 1528:25–30
- Kogure K, Hama S, Manabe S, Tokumura A, Fukuzawa K (2002) High cytotoxicity of α-tocopheryl hemisuccinate to cancer cells is due to failure of their antioxidative defense systems. Cancer Lett 186:151–156
- Kogure K, Yamauchi I, Tokumura A, Kondou K, Tanaka N, Takaishi Y, Fukuzawa K (2004) Novel antioxidants isolated from plants of the genera Ferula, Inula, Prangos and Rheum collected in Uzbekistan. Phytomedicine 11:645–651
- Kogure K, Manabe S, Suzuki I, Tokumura A, Fukuzawa K (2005) Cytotoxicity of α-tocopheryl succinate, malonate and oxalate in normal and cancer cells *in vitro* and their anti-cancer effects on mouse melanoma *in vivo*. J Nutr Sci Vitaminol 51:392–397
- Koppenol WH, Bounds PL, Dang CV (2011) Otto Warburg's contributions to current concepts of cancer metabolism. Nat Rev Cancer 11:325–337
- Kovarova J, Bajzikova M, Vondrusova M, Stursa J, Goodwin J, Nguyen M, Zobalova R, Alizadeh E, Truksa J, Tomasetti M, Dong LF, Neuzil J (2014) Efficient suppression of malignant mesothelioma by mitochondrially targeted of α-tocopheryl succinate. Redox Rep 19:16–25
- Kruspig B, Nilchian A, Bejarano I, Orrenius S, Zhivotovsky B, Gogvadze V (2012) Targeting mitochondria by α-tocopheryl succinate kills neuroblastoma cells irrespective of MycN oncogene expression. Cell Mol Life Sci 69:2091–2099
- Kunisaki M, Bursell SE, Clermont AC, Ishii H, Ballas LM, Jirousek MR, Umeda F, Nawata H, King GL (1995) Vitamin E prevents diabetes-induced abnormal retinal blood flow via the diacylglycerol-protein kinase C pathway. Am J Physiol 269:E239–E246
- Latimer P, Menchaca M, Snyder RM, Yu W, Gilbert BE, Sanders BG, Kline K (2009) Aerosol delivery of liposomal formulated paclitaxel and vitamin E analog reduces murine mammary tumor burden and metastases. Exp Biol Med 234:1244–1252
- Lawson KA, Anderson K, Menchaca M, Atkinson J, Sun L, Knight V, Gilbert BE, Conti C, Sanders BG, Kline K (2003) Novel vitamin E analogue decreases syngeneic mouse mammary tumor burden and reduces lung metastasis. Mol Cancer Ther 2:437–444
- Lawson KA, Anderson K, Simmons-Menchaca M, Atkinson J, Sun L, Sanders BG, Kline K (2004) Comparison of vitamin E derivatives α -TEA and VES in reduction of mouse mammary tumor burden and metastasis. Exp Biol Med 229:954–963
- Lee SP, Mar GY, Ng LT (2009) Effects of tocotrienol-rich fraction on exercise endurance capacity and oxidative stress in forced swimming rats. Eur J Appl Physiol 107:587–595
- Li Y, Wang LX, Yang G, Hao F, Urba WJ, Hu HM (2008) Efficient cross-presentation depends on autophagy in tumor cells. Cancer Res 68:6889–6895
- Li Y, Hahn T, Garrison K, Cui ZH, Thorburn A, Thorburn J, Hu HM, Akporiaye ET (2012) The vitamin E analogue α -TEA stimulates tumor autophagy and enhances antigen cross-presentation. Cancer Res 72:3535–3545
- Ling MT, Luk SU, Al-Ejeh F, Khanna KK (2012) Tocotrienol as a potential anticancer agent. Carcinogenesis 33:233–239
- Makishima M, Umesono K, Shudo K, Naoe T, Kishi K, Honma Y (1998) Induction of differentiation in acute promyelocytic leukemia cells by 9-cis retinoic acid α-tocopherol ester (9-cis tretinoin tocoferil). Blood 91:4715–4726
- Malafa MP, Fokum FD, Mowlavi A, Abusief M, King M (2002) Vitamin E inhibits melanoma growth in mice. Surgery 131:85–91
- McIntyre BS, Briski KP, Gapor A, Sylvester PW (2000) Antiproliferative and apoptotic effects of tocopherols and tocotrienols on preneoplastic and neoplastic mouse mammary epithelial cells. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 224:292–301

- Mochly-Rosen D, Das K, Grimes KV (2012) Protein kinase C, an elusive therapeutic target? Nat Rev Drug Discov 11:937–957
- Modica-Napolitano JS, Aprille JR (2001) Delocalized lipophilic cations selectively target the mitochondria of carcinoma cells. Adv Drug Deliv Rev 49:63–70
- Mudit M, Behery FA, Wali VB, Sylvester PW, El Sayed KA (2010) Synthesis of fluorescent analogues of the anticancer natural products 4-hydroxyphenylmethylene hydantoin and δ-tocotrienol. Nat Prod Commun 5:1623–1626
- Munteanu A, Zingg JM, Ogru E, Libinaki R, Gianello R, West S, Negis Y, Azzi A (2004) Modulation of cell proliferation and gene expression by α-tocopheryl phosphates: relevance to atherosclerosis and inflammation. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 318:311–316
- Münz C (2009) Enhancing immunity through autophagy. Annu Rev Immunol 423-449
- Murphy MP, Smith RA (2007) Targeting antioxidants to mitochondria by conjugation to lipophilic cations. Annu Rev Pharmacol Toxicol 629–656
- Negis Y, Zingg JM, Ogru E, Gianello R, Libinaki R, Azzi A (2005) On the existence of cellular tocopheryl phosphate, its synthesis, degradation and cellular roles: a hypothesis. IUBMB Life 57:23–25
- Negis Y, Zingg JM, Libinaki R, Meydani M, Azzi A (2009) Vitamin E and cancer. Nutr Cancer 61:875–878
- Neuzil J, Schröder A, von Hundelshausen P, Zernecke A, Weber T, Gellert N, Weber C (2001a) Inhibition of inflammatory endothelial responses by a pathway involving caspase activation and p65 cleavage. Biochemistry 40:4686–4692
- Neuzil J, Weber T, Gellert N, Weber C (2001b) Selective cancer cell killing by α -tocopheryl succinate. Br J Cancer 84:87–89
- Neuzil J, Weber T, Schröder A, Lu M, Ostermann G, Gellert N, Mayne GC, Olejnicka B, Nègre-Salvayre A, Stícha M, Coffey RJ, Weber C (2001c) Induction of cancer cell apoptosis by α-tocopheryl succinate: molecular pathways and structural requirements. FASEB J 15:403–415
- Neuzil J, Zhao M, Ostermann G, Sticha M, Gellert N, Weber C, Eaton JW, Brunk UT (2002) α-Tocopheryl succinate, an agent with in vivo anti-tumour activity, induces apoptosis by causing lysosomal instability. Biochem J 362:709–715
- Neuzil J, Tomasetti M, Mellick AS, Alleva R, Salvatore BA, Birringer M, Fariss MW (2004) Vitamin E analogues: a new class of inducers of apoptosis with selective anti-cancer effects. Curr Cancer Drug Targets 4:355–372
- Neuzil J, Wang XF, Dong LF, Low P, Ralph SJ (2006) Molecular mechanism of 'mitocan'-induced apoptosis in cancer cells epitomizes the multiple roles of reactive oxygen species and Bcl-2 family proteins. FEBS Lett 580:5125–5129
- Neuzil J, Tomasetti M, Zhao Y, Dong LF, Birringer M, Wang XF, Low P, Wu K, Salvatore BA, Ralph SJ (2007) Vitamin E analogs, a novel group of 'mitocans', as anticancer agents: the importance of being redox-silent. Mol Pharmacol 71:1185–1199
- Neuzil J, Dong LF, Rohlena J, Truksa J, Ralph SJ (2013) Classification of mitocans, anti-cancer drugs acting on mitochondria. Mitochondrion 13:199–208
- Nishina H, Wada T, Katada T (2004) Physiological roles of SAPK/JNK signaling pathway. J Biochem 136:123–126
- O'Connell J, Bennett MW, Nally K, Houston A, O'Sullivan GC, Shanahan F (2000) Altered mechanisms of apoptosis in colon cancer: Fas resistance and counterattack in the tumour-immune conflict. Ann N Y Acad Sci 910:178–192
- Parker RA, Pearce BC, Clark RW, Gordon DA, Wright JJ (1993) Tocotrienols regulate cholesterol production in mammalian cells by post-transcriptional suppression of 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-coenzyme A reductase. J Biol Chem 268:11230–11238
- Parsons DW, Jones S, Zhang X, Lin JC, Leary RJ, Angenendt P, Mankoo P, Carter H, Siu IM, Gallia GL, Olivi A, McLendon R, Rasheed BA, Keir S, Nikolskaya T, Nikolsky Y, Busam DA, Tekleab H, Diaz LA Jr, Hartigan J, Smith DR, Strausberg RL, Marie SK, Shinjo SM, Yan H, Riggins GJ, Bigner DD, Karchin R, Papadopoulos N, Parmigiani G, Vogelstein B, Velculescu VE, Kinzler KW (2008) An integrated genomic analysis of human glioblastoma multiforme. Science 321:1807–1812

- Petrosillo G, Ruggiero FM, Paradies G (2003) Role of reactive oxygen species and cardiolipin in the release of cytochrome c from mitochondria. FASEB J 17:2202–2208
- Pham DQ, Plakogiannis R (2005) Vitamin E supplementation in cardiovascular disease and cancer prevention: Part 1. Ann Pharmacother 39:1870–1878
- Qian M, Sanders BG, Kline K (1996) RRR-α-tocopheryl succinate induces apoptosis in avian retrovirus-transformed lymphoid cells. Nutr Cancer 25:9–26
- Qureshi AA, Mo H, Packer L, Peterson DM (2000) Isolation and identification of novel tocotrienols from rice bran with hypocholesterolemic, antioxidant, and antitumor properties. J Agric Food Chem 48:3130–3140
- Qureshi AA, Sami SA, Salser WA, Khan FA (2001) Synergistic effect of tocotrienol-rich fraction (TRF(25)) of rice bran and lovastatin on lipid parameters in hypercholesterolemic humans. J Nutr Biochem 12:318–329
- Qureshi AA, Sami SA, Salser WA, Khan FA (2002) Dose-dependent suppression of serum cholesterol by tocotrienol-rich fraction (TRF25) of rice bran in hypercholesterolemic humans. Atherosclerosis 161:199–207
- Ralph SJ, Low P, Dong L, Lawen A, Neuzil J (2006) Mitocans: mitochondrial targeted anti-cancer drugs as improved therapies and related patent documents. Recent Patents Anticancer Drug Discov 1:327–346
- Ralph SJ, Rodríguez-Enríquez S, Neuzil J, Moreno-Sánchez R (2010a) Bioenergetic pathways in tumor mitochondria as targets for cancer therapy and the importance of the ROS-induced apoptotic trigger. Mol Aspects Med 31:29–59
- Ralph SJ, Rodríguez-Enríquez S, Neuzil J, Saavedra E, Moreno-Sánchez R (2010b) The causes of cancer revisited: "mitochondrial malignancy" and ROS-induced oncogenic transformation why mitochondria are targets for cancer therapy. Mol Aspects Med 31:145–170
- Rezk BM, van der Vijgh WJ, Bast A, Haenen GR (2007) α-Tocopheryl phosphate is a novel apoptotic agent. Front Biosci 12:2013–2019
- Rodríguez-Enríquez S, Hernández-Esquivel L, Marín-Hernández A, Dong LF, Akporiaye ET, Neuzil J, Ralph SJ, Moreno-Sánchez R (2012) Molecular mechanism for the selective impairment of cancer mitochondrial function by a mitochondrially targeted vitamin E analogue. Biochim Biophys Acta 1817:1597–1607
- Rohlena J, Dong LF, Kluckova K, Zobalova R, Goodwin J, Tilly D, Stursa J, Pecinova A, Philimonenko A, Hozak P, Banerjee J, Ledvina M, Sen CK, Houstek J, Coster MJ, Neuzil J (2011) Mitochondrially targeted α-tocopheryl succinate is antiangiogenic: potential benefit against tumor angiogenesis but caution against wound healing. Antioxid Redox Signal 15:2923–2935
- Ruvolo PP, Deng X, Carr BK, May WS (1998) A functional role for mitochondrial protein kinase C-α in Bcl2 phosphorylation and suppression of apoptosis. J Biol Chem 273:25436–25442
- Sen CK, Khanna S, Roy S, Packer L (2000) Molecular basis of vitamin E action. Tocotrienol potently inhibits glutamate-induced pp 60(c-Src) kinase activation and death of HT4 neuronal cells. J Biol Chem 275:13049–13055
- Sen CK, Khanna S, Rink C, Roy S (2007) Tocotrienols: the emerging face of natural vitamin E. Vitam Horm 76:203–261
- Shin-Kang S, Ramsauer VP, Lightner J, Chakraborty K, Stone W, Campbell S, Reddy SA, Krishnan K (2011) Tocotrienols inhibit AKT and ERK activation and suppress pancreatic cancer cell proliferation by suppressing the ErbB2 pathway. Free Radic Biol Med 51:1164–1174
- Shun MC, Yu W, Gapor A, Parsons R, Atkinson J, Sanders BG, Kline K (2004) Pro-apoptotic mechanisms of action of a novel vitamin E analog (α-TEA) and a naturally occurring form of vitamin E (δ-tocotrienol) in MDA-MB-435 human breast cancer cells. Nutr Cancer 48:95–105
- Shun MC, Yu W, Park SK, Sanders BG, Kline K (2010) Downregulation of epidermal growth factor receptor expression contributes to α-TEA's proapoptotic effects in human ovarian cancer cell lines. J Oncol 824571

- Siegel R, DeSantis C, Virgo K, Stein K, Mariotto A, Smith T, Cooper D, Gansler T, Lerro C, Fedewa S, Lin C, Leach C, Cannady RS, Cho H, Scoppa S, Hachey M, Kirch R, Jemal A, Ward E (2012) Cancer treatment and survivorship statistics. CA Cancer J Clin 62:220–241
- Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A (2013) Cancer statistics, 2013. CA Cancer J Clin 63:11-30
- Simon HU, Haj-Yehia A, Levi-Schaffer F (2000) Role of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in apoptosis induction. Apoptosis 5:415–418
- Smith L, Wang Z, Smith JB (2003) Caspase processing activates atypical protein kinase C zeta by relieving autoinhibition and destabilizes the protein. Biochem J 375:663–761
- Spitaler M, Cantrell DA (2004) Protein kinase C and beyond. Nat Immunol 5:785-790
- Stapelberg M, Gellert N, Swettenham E, Tomasetti M, Witting PK, Procopio A, Neuzil J (2005) α -Tocopheryl succinate inhibits malignant mesothelioma by disrupting the fibroblast growth factor autocrine loop: mechanism and the role of oxidative stress. J Biol Chem 280:25369–25376
- Suzuki YJ, Packer L (1993) Inhibition of NF-κB DNA binding activity by α-tocopheryl succinate. Biochem Mol Biol Int 31:693–700
- Swettenham E, Witting PK, Salvatore BA, Neuzil J (2005) α -Tocopheryl succinate selectively induces apoptosis in neuroblastoma cells: potential therapy of malignancies of the nervous system? J Neurochem 94:1448–1456
- Tasinato A, Boscoboinik D, Bartoli GM, Maroni P, Azzi A (1995) d-α-Tocopherol inhibition of vascular smooth muscle cell proliferation occurs at physiological concentrations, correlates with protein kinase C inhibition, and is independent of its antioxidant properties. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 92:12190–12194
- Tiwary R, Yu W, Li J, Park SK, Sanders BG, Kline K (2010) Role of endoplasmic reticulum stress in α-TEA mediated TRAIL/DR5 death receptor dependent apoptosis. PLoS One 5:e11865
- Tiwary R, Yu W, deGraffenried LA, Sanders BG, Kline K (2011a) Targeting cholesterol-rich microdomains to circumvent tamoxifen-resistant breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 13:R120
- Tiwary R, Yu W, Sanders BG, Kline K (2011b) α-TEA cooperates with MEK or mTOR inhibitors to induce apoptosis via targeting IRS/PI3K pathways. Br J Cancer 104:101–109
- Tomasetti M, Rippo MR, Alleva R, Moretti S, Andera L, Neuzil J, Procopio A (2004) α-Tocopheryl succinate and TRAIL selectively synergise in induction of apoptosis in human malignant mesothelioma cells. Br J Cancer 90:1644–1653
- Tomasetti M, Andera L, Alleva R, Borghi B, Neuzil J, Procopio A (2006) α-Tocopheryl succinate induces DR4 and DR5 expression by a p53-dependent route: implication for sensitisation of resistant cancer cells to TRAIL apoptosis. FEBS Lett 580:1925–1931
- Totoń E, Ignatowicz E, Skrzeczkowska K, Rybczyńska M (2011) Protein kinase Cε as a cancer marker and target for anticancer therapy. Pharmacol Rep 63:19–29
- Turley JM, Ruscetti FW, Kim SJ, Fu T, Gou FV, Birchenall-Roberts MC (1997) Vitamin E succinate inhibits proliferation of BT-20 human breast cancer cells: increased binding of cyclin A negatively regulates E2F transactivation activity. Cancer Res 57:2668–2675
- Valis K, Prochazka L, Boura E, Chladova M, Obsil T, Rohlena J, Truksa J, Dong LF, Ralph SJ, Neuzil J (2011) Hippo/Mst1 stimulates transcription of NOXA in a FoxO1-dependent manner. Cancer Res 71:946–954
- Wagner EF, Nebreda AR (2009) Signal integration by JNK and p38 MAPK pathways in cancer development. Nat Rev Cancer 9:537–549
- Wallace DC (2012) Mitochondria and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 12:685-698
- Wang XF, Witting PK, Salvatore BA, Neuzil J (2005) Vitamin E analogs trigger apoptosis in HER2/erbB2-overexpressing breast cancer cells by signaling via the mitochondrial pathway. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 326:282–289
- Ward PS, Thompson CB (2012) Metabolic reprogramming: a cancer hallmark even Warburg did not anticipate. Cancer Cell 21:297–308
- Weber T, Lu M, Andera L, Lahm H, Gellert N, Fariss MW, Korinek V, Sattler W, Ucker DS, Terman A, Schröder A, Erl W, Brunk UT, Coffey RJ, Weber C, Neuzil J (2002) Vitamin E succinate is a potent novel anti-neoplastic agent with high selectivity and cooperativity with

tumor necrosis factor-related apoptosis-inducing ligand (Apo2 ligand) in vivo. Clin Cancer Res 8:863–869

- Weber T, Dalen H, Andera L, Nègre-Salvayre A, Augé N, Sticha M, Lloret A, Terman A, Witting PK, Higuchi M, Plasilova M, Zivny J, Gellert N, Weber C, Neuzil J (2003) Mitochondria play a central role in apoptosis induced by α-tocopheryl succinate, an agent with antineoplastic activity: comparison with receptor-mediated pro-apoptotic signalling. Biochemistry 42:4277–4291
- Weng-Yew W, Selvaduray KR, Ming CH, Nesaretnam K (2009) Suppression of tumour growth by palm tocotrienol via the attenuation of angiogenesis. Nutr Cancer 61:367–373
- Whittle KJ, Dunphy PJ, Pennock JF (1996) The isolation and properties of δ-tocotrienol from Hevea latex. Biochem J 100:138–145
- Wu SJ, Ng LT (2010) Tocotrienols inhibited growth and induced apoptosis in human HeLa cells through the cell cycle signalling pathway. Integr Cancer Ther 9:66–72
- Wu K, Li Y, Zhao Y, Shan YJ, Xia W, Yu WP, Zhao L (2002) Roles of Fas signaling pathway in vitamin E succinate-induced apoptosis in human gastric cancer SGC-7901 cells. World J Gastroenterol 8:982–986
- Yamamoto S, Tamai H, Ishisaka R, Kanno T, Arita K, Kobuchi H, Utsumi K (2000) Mechanism of α -tocopheryl succinate-induced apoptosis of promyelocytic leukemia cells. Free Radic Res 33:407–418
- Yano Y, Satoh H, Fukumoto K, Kumadaki I, Ichikawa T, Yamada K, Hagiwara K, Yano T (2005) Induction of cytotoxicity in human lung adenocarcinoma cells by 6-O-carboxypropyl-αtocotrienol, a redox-silent derivative of α-tocotrienol. Int J Cancer 115:839–846
- Youk HJ, Lee E, Choi MK, Lee YJ, Chung JH, Kim SH, Lee CH, Lim SJ (2005) Enhanced anticancer efficacy of α-tocopheryl succinate by conjugation with polyethylene glycol. J Control Release 107:43–52
- Yu W, Sanders BG, Kline K (1997) RRR-α-tocopheryl succinate inhibits EL4 thymic lymphoma cell growth by inducing apoptosis and DNA synthesis arrest. Nutr Cancer 27:92–101
- Yu W, Liao QY, Hantash FM, Sanders BG, Kline K (2001) Activation of extracellular signalregulated kinase and c-Jun-NH2-terminal kinase but not p38 mitogen-activated protein kinases is required for RRR- α-tocopheryl succinate-induced apoptosis of human breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 61:6569–6576
- Yu W, Sanders BG, Kline K (2003) RRR-α-tocopheryl succinate-induced apoptosis of human breast cancer cells involves Bax translocation to mitochondria. Cancer Res 63:2483–2491
- Yu W, Shun MC, Anderson K, Chen H, Sanders BG, Kline K (2006) α-TEA inhibits survival and enhances death pathways in cisplatin sensitive and resistant human ovarian cancer cells. Apoptosis 11:1813–1823
- Yu W, Tiwary R, Li J, Park SK, Jia L, Xiong A, Simmons-Menchaca M, Sanders BG, Kline K (2010) α-TEA induces apoptosis of human breast cancer cells via activation of TRAIL/DR5 death receptor pathway. Mol Carcinog 49:964–973
- Zhang JY, Selim MA (2012) The role of the c-Jun N-terminal kinase signaling pathway in skin cancer. Am J Cancer Res 2:691–698
- Zhao Y, Neuzil J, Wu K (2009) Vitamin E analogues as mitochondria-targeting compounds: from the bench to the bedside? Mol Nutr Food Res 53:129–139
- Zu K, Hawthorn L, Ip C (2005) Up-regulation of c-Jun-NH2-kinase pathway contributes to the induction of mitochondria-mediated apoptosis by α -tocopheryl succinate in human prostate cancer cells. Mol Cancer Ther 4:43–50